AVIATION CAREERS SERIES

AIRCRAFT MANUFACTURING





U.S. Department of Transportation

Federal Aviation Administration

Office of Public Affairs Aviation Education Program



INTRODUCTION

Aviation has progressed a long way since the 120-foot flight by Orville Wright on December 17, 1903, at Kitty Hawk, North Carolina, and since the first U.S. airline began operating between Tampa and St. Petersburg, Florida, on January 1, 1914. Today supersonic aircraft fly routinely across the oceans, and more than two million people are employed in aviation, the aerospace and air transportation industries.

In response to its Congressional mandate, the Federal Aviation Administration, as part of its effort to plan for the future of air transportation, conducts an Aviation Education Program to inform students, teachers, and the public about the Nation's air transportation system.

Aviation offers many varied opportunities for exciting and rewarding careers. The purpose of this brochure, and others in the FAA Aviation Careers Series, is to provide information that will be useful in making career decisions. Publications in this series include:

- 1. Pilots & Flight Engineers
- 2. Flight Attendants
- 3. Airline Non-Flying Careers
- 4. Aircraft Manufacturing
- 5. Aviation Maintenance and Avionics
- 6. Airport Careers
- 7. Government Careers

There is also an overview brochure entitled "Your Career in Aviation: The Sky's the Limit," and a brochure entitled "Women in Aviation."

Free brochures may be obtained by sending a self-addressed mailing label with your request to: Superintendent of Documents, Retail Distribution Division, Consigned Branch, 8610 Cherry Lane, Laurel, MD 20707.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The FAA wishes to thank Keith Connes, Barbara de Boinville, the Aerospace Industries Association, and Ed Leng of Hughes Aircraft for their contributions to this publication.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

General Information	. 1
Nature of Work	. 3
Working Conditions	. 3
Where the Jobs Are	. 3
Wages and Benefits	. 4
Opportunities for Advancement	. 4
Requirements to Enter the Job	. 4
Opportunities for Training	. 5
Outlook for the Future	. 5
Statistics on Aerospace Industry Employment	. 6
An Engineer Talks About His Job	. 7
Aviation Education Officers	. 8
Aviation Education Resource Centers	. 9

Aviation Careers Series—Aircraft Manufacturing

GENERAL INFORMATION

The world would be vastly different without the airplane. We depend on it to transport people and goods, to explore, to search and rescue, to fight fires, and, of course, to defend our Nation and our allies.

Take a look at the aircraft manufacturing industry in the United States today and you'll see a picture of ups and downs. Some aircraft are selling well, others poorly. There are more orders for some of the new, U.S.-built airliners than the manufacturers can fill. But light aircraft—small, piston-engine planes flown by pleasure and business pilots—are not in great demand, although several manufacturers are keeping busy. The corporate market for aircraft remains steady and highly competitive. Many corporations maintain their own fleets of turboprop and jet planes.

Would you like to become involved in manufacturing aircraft—perhaps even designing the planes of the future? Aircraft manufacturing is a vital part of America's vast aerospace industry that also includes missiles, satellites, spacecraft, and navigation and guidance systems. There are four major aircraft manufacturing divisions: airframe, components, accessory and equipment, and engine.

As nations become more interdependent and as economic expansion takes place in the Pacific Rim countries, Africa, Eastern Europe, China, and South America, the need for aircraft increases. And here in this country, the deregulation of the airline industry has increased the demand for transcontinental and commuter aircraft. This dynamic growth requires skilled scientists, engineers, technicians, production workers, and administrative and support activities personnel. Each of these five job categories will be discussed in this brochure.

Scientists and Engineers. Scientists and engineers must have knowledge or training that is equivalent to a four-year college education with a major in these areas. Scientific fields include aerodynamics, physics, mathematics, chemistry, physiology, metallurgy, cryogenics, meteorology, and avionics. An exciting new field of study concerns the uses of composites and ceramics in aircraft manufacturing.

Engineering fields include design, aerodynamics, avionics, instrumentation, manufacturing materials, weights and balance, field service, and flight test. College degrees are offered in aeronautical, aerospace, ceramic, chemical, civil, electronic, electrical, industrial, mechanical, metallurgical and nuclear engineering, engineering mechanics, and engineering physics. One out of five of the engineers in the aerospace industry has an aeronautical or aerospace engineering degree; the others received degrees in other disciplines.

The aerospace industry is one of the nation's primary employers of scientists and engineers for research and development. More than half of the industry's scientists and engineers are in research and development. The remainder are in production planning, quality control, tool designing, technical purchasing, technical sales and service, technical writing and illustrating, and related fields.

Technical areas of endeavor include aircraft and flight equipment, chemistry, communications, detection, electrical equipment, electronics and electronic equipment, fluid mechanics, fuels and combustion, ground transportation, equipment, installations and construction, materials (non-metallic), mathematics, metallurgy, military sciences and operations, navigation, nuclear propulsion, ordnance, personnel and training, physics, propulsion systems, and research and research equipment.

Technicians. This job category includes all persons engaged in work requiring knowledge of physical or life sciences, engineering, and mathematics. This knowledge can be acquired at technical institutes or junior colleges, or through other formal post-high-school training. Equivalent on- the-job training or experience may be acceptable. (Craft workers, such as machinists and electricians, are not included in the technicians job category.)

The fields of study for science technicians and engineering technicians are the same as those already mentioned above for scientists and engineers. Technicians also can be drafters or technical writers and illustrators. Examples of technicians' titles are as follows: senior documentation analyst, software programmer, contracts administrator, technical illustrator, technical writer,

supervisor of blueprint and microfilm files, tool designer, training equipment designer, drafter, research mechanic, research electrician, laboratory technician, electronics technician, and production planner.

Aircraft Manufacturing Employees. This job category includes working supervisors and all non-supervised workers engaged in fabricating, processing, assembling, inspecting, receiving, storing, handling, packing, warehousing, shipping, maintaining, and repairing aircraft. It also includes janitorial and guard services, product development, auxiliary production for a plant's own use, recordkeeping, and other services closely associated with the aforementioned operations.

Aircraft manufacturing employees can have a variety of occupations: sheet metal and other metal-processing work, composite fabrication, machinery and tool fabrication, assembly and installation, inspecting and testing (quality control), flight check-out, materials handling, and maintenance. Typical jobs include the following:

Sheet Metal Occupations

Sheet Metal Workers Power Brake Operators Power Hammer Operators Power Shear Operators Punch Press Operators Profile Cutting Machine Operators

Other Metal-Processing Occupations

Tube Benders Riveters Welders

Foundry Workers: Patternmakers, Molders & Coremakers Forging Department: Drop Hammer Operators and Others Heat Treaters

Painters

Platers

Machinery and Tool Fabrication Occupations

Milling Machine Operators **Production Machinists**

Tooling Machinists

Machine Tool Operators

Jig and Fixture Builders

Tool and Die Makers

Engine Lathe Operators

Tooling Welders

Boring Machine Operators

Precision Honers

Assembly and Installation Occupations

Final Assemblers Armament Assemblers Power Plant Installers **Electronics Assemblers** Electrical Assemblers Plumbing Assemblers Hydraulic Assemblers Heating and Ventilating Assemblers Rigging and Controls Assemblers **Upholsterers**

Inspecting and Testing Occupations (Quality Control)

Aircraft Manufacturing Inspectors Flight Test Pilots Receiving Inspectors Machined Parts Inspectors Fabrication Inspectors Assembly Inspectors **Tool Inspectors** Template Inspectors Gauge Inspectors **Electrical Inspectors** Flight Line Inspectors

Flight Check-Out Occupations

Chief Mechanics or Crew Chiefs **Engine Mechanics Electronics Mechanics**

Materials Handling Occupations

Truck Drivers Crane Operators Shipping Clerks Tool Crib Attendants

Maintenance Occupations

Maintenance Mechanics Millwrights Electricians Carpenters Plumbers **Painters** Welders

Protective and Custodial Occupations

Guards Firefighters Janitors

Administrative and Support Activities Personnel. These positions include executives responsible for direction and supervision of research and production; officials in departments such as sales, purchasing, personnel, accounting, public relations, advertising, and industrial relations; and secretaries, stenographers, typists, clerks, and tabulating machine operators.

Nature of the Work

Scientists, Engineers, and Technicians. Almost every branch of science and engineering is involved in the design and production of faster and more efficient aircraft and in the inflight operation and ground servicing of planes, their passengers and cargo. The mechanical and electrical equipment needed by the airlines is increasingly complex. The challenge facing aircraft manufacturers today is to build planes with short takeoff and landing (V/STOL) capabilities. Also needed are specialized aircraft for work and recreation purposes. All designs must stress improved safety factors.

Professional scientists and engineers and semiprofessional technicians work in one of three major areas: (1) research, design, or development; (2) production, operation, or control; and (3) installation, maintenance, or sales engineering. The emphasis is on thinking and on team work—a coordinated effort by scientists, engineers and technicians.

Scientists are chiefly concerned with basic and applied research—the search for scientific knowledge, new concepts, the extension of theory, and the practical applications of this knowledge and theory. Engineers normally have a definite goal in mind: namely, designing a specific piece of equipment so it will perform a specific task. Working closely with scientists and engineers, technicians concentrate on the practical aspects of using and testing equipment, not on the theory involved in building it. Technicians usually begin as trainees or in the routine positions under the direct supervision of an experienced technician, scientist, or engineer. As technicians gain experience, they receive more responsible assignments. The team of scientists, engineers, and technicians is concerned with all phases of the development of aircraft—from the initial planning and design to the final manufacturing and testing.

A little more than half of all aircraft manufacturing employees are production workers or "blue collar" workers. They fabricate, assemble, install, and test the many parts of a modern airplane. Other plant workers handle materials and provide maintenance and custodial services. These occupations range from highly skilled to semiskilled jobs.

Working Conditions

Scientists, engineers, and technicians work primarily indoors at a desk or in a laboratory. Some outdoor work may be necessary. Research and engineering departments are usually in modern, clean, and temperature-controlled factory buildings. These departments are normally equipped with the latest electronic and mechanical instruments, drafting instruments, and laboratory apparatus.

Most administrative and support activities personnel also work in modern, clean, temperature-controlled offices.

Aircraft Manufacturing employees work in departments such as riveting, metal-processing and welding. These areas are filled with the noise of metal cutting, riveting guns, and power tools. Employees engaged in composite fabrication have a quieter job since the substances they mold essentially begin as fabric. Resins are molded rather than stamped, shaped, and riveted. The loudest noise is often the whir of a hair dryer as it heats the fabric.

Some jobs generate fumes and odors. Assemblers often, work in hard-to-reach cramped spaces; they must stoop, kneel, crouch, and crawl to perform their tasks. Assembly, welding, and molding operations and mechanic and machine shop jobs require frequent lifting or carrying of heavy loads (up to 50 pounds) and medium loads (up to 25 pounds). Although there are some hazards, aviation plants are relatively safe working places: their injury-frequency rate averages less than that for the manufacturing industry as a whole.

Where the Jobs Are

Almost every state has some aircraft manufacturing jobs. The largest concentration is in California. States with many jobs include New York, Washington, Connecticut, Texas, Florida, Ohio, Missouri, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, Kansas, Alabama, Maryland, New Jersey, and Georgia.

Wages and Benefits

Scientists and Engineers. Depending upon the demand for the specialty and on the employee's abilities, the entry-level salary of a scientist or engineer is \$37,600. The average salary is \$44,700, with top pay of \$83,600. Scientists and engineers generally begin their weekday between 6 and 9 a.m. and work an eight-hour day, or overtime as projects necessitate. Employers often pay scientists and engineers to attend seminars and meetings of professional societies. Some also pay the membership dues of these societies as well as the tuition for classes and continued education in the employee's field of expertise.

Technicians. Entry-level salaries for science technicians and engineering technicians begin at about \$18,000-\$20,000 per year. A senior technician receives about \$30,400. The median salary is \$24,400. The beginning salary will depend upon the technician's technical specialty, education, and experience. Earnings are generally highest in the West, lowest in the South. The larger the city is, the better the pay. Technicians typically work 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. weekdays.

Aircraft Manufacturing Employees. Machine shop workers and aircraft inspectors in small manufacturing companies generally begin at about \$7.50 per hour. Large corporate entities pay about \$10.60 to \$16.85 per hour. Top hourly wages are about \$17. Some companies offer paid incentives or piecework rates.

Administrative and Support Activities Personnel. Salaries are generally higher than those for similar work in most other industries. "White collar" workers typically work 9 to 5 weekdays.

Opportunities for Advancement

Scientists and Engineers. Promotion to senior scientist or senior engineer brings a pay increase. The chief advancement possibilities involve supervision and management positions and executive positions. The "team" or "project" approach to fulfilling objectives has increased the need for talented managers.

Technicians. A technician can advance to a professional position by getting more education or by performing well tasks normally assigned to professionals. Technicians also can be promoted to supervisory positions. Technicians who have a good working knowledge of the equipment produced by the company and who have the

right personality for the job may become company sales persons, technical representatives, or troubleshooters.

Traditionally, skilled workers can advance to positions requiring higher skills and experience, such as foremen, inspectors, and supervisors. Educational opportunities are available to advance to semiprofessional positions. A possible advancement progression in engineering might be from assembler to quality control inspectors, to engineering technician to junior engineer, and finally to engineer. Union contracts normally require advancement of semiskilled workers to be based upon seniority of qualified individuals. By taking courses offered by the company or by vocational or technical schools in the community, semiskilled workers may prepare themselves for a skilled job, such as blueprint reading, welding or mechanic.

Administrative and Support Activities Personnel. Advancement in these areas is normally to similar positions with greater responsibilities and higher salaries.

Requirements to Enter the Job

The aircraft manufacturing industry seeks individuals with self-discipline, a willingness to accept responsibility, a sound foundation in technology, and team spirit. More and more women are pursuing careers in the industry. For example, at Beech Aircraft Corporation—a manufacturer primarily of corporate and military airplanes—women make up about 50 percent of the work force in the composites production area. About 30 percent of its metal-manufacturing, assembly-line jobs are held by women. And according to a Stanford University report, the University has seen an increase in the number of freshman women enrolling in engineering because of the excellent job prospects. More and more universities across the nation report similar increases.

Scientists and Engineers. A college degree in one of the sciences or in engineering is the minimum requirement for scientific or engineering jobs. Applicants frequently have advanced degrees. (Infrequently, someone with years of semiprofessional experience and some college or college-equivalent training is hired as a scientific or engineer.) An interdisciplinary approach to aircraft manufacturing is taken today, and this requires better training in, for example, the interrelated functions of mathematics, physics, and chemistry. A solid foundation in the fundamental concepts and basic general areas of science and engineering is recommended. There is a

need for constant study to keep up with the rapidly changing technology.

Technicians. Much of what has been mentioned concerning scientists and engineers applies to science technicians and engineering technicians. An Associate in Science degree or Associate in Engineering degree is normally required or a diploma from a college or university, junior or community college, technical institute, or technical or vocational school. Technical institutes offer courses designed to qualify the graduate for a specific job or cluster of jobs immediately upon graduation and with a minimum of on-the-job training. One may qualify for some technician jobs by completing an on-the-job training program or taking part-time, post-secondary-school-level courses. Experience obtained while on active duty with the military services or other work experience is taken into account by employers.

Aircraft Manufacturing Employees. The training required for plant jobs varies from a few days of on-the-job instruction (for semiskilled workers such as material handlers and guards) to several years of formal apprenticeship (for craft workers such as machinists, tool and die makers, aircraft mechanics, sheet metal workers, pattern-makers, and electricians). Workers with little or no previous training or experience may be hired for assembly jobs requiring the least skill. Skilled assemblers, however, may need two to four years of plant experience, plus a high school education or vocational or technical school education, or the equivalent. Workers with little experience begin as helpers or assistants and develop their skills on the job and by taking training courses offered at the plant. An individual may increase his or her chances of being hired by acquiring a skill at a vocational or technical school.

Administrative and Support Activities Personnel. The requirements for these jobs are generally the same as the requirements for similar jobs in other industries. A person's chances for employment can be improved by acquiring a knowledge of engineering, technology, and the aviation industry.

Opportunities for Training

Because workers who are highly trained and knowledgeable about new developments are needed in the industry, most aircraft plants conduct training classes or pay tuition and related costs for employees to take courses at schools in the community. Some plants do both. Some classes are held during working hours; the

trainee is paid for class time. Other classes are held after working hours. Courses are available for practically every occupational group and cover many skills and areas of knowledge.

Many aircraft plants provide their employees with financial aid for college enrollment. This aid is furnished either as direct grants or in the form of scholarships, and it is possible for an employee to work and to continue his or her education at the same time. These opportunities help workers advance more rapidly to higher skills and to better paid jobs.

The best jobs go to those with the most education. A high school education, at the minimum, is practically mandatory for any worker in the aircraft industry. Post-secondary-school training is vitally important, and such training may be obtained from area vocational-technical schools, technical institutes, junior or community colleges, or four-year colleges or universities.

Outlook for the Future

While the industry's health has always been cyclical, experts believe the outlook is bright for the 1990s. More jobs in aircraft manufacturing will be created, and more skilled and unskilled labor will be needed to fill them. Several trends and innovations account for this optimism.

First, the deregulation of the airline industry in the 1970s opened the airways to more and more regional commuter airlines. The number of jobs, both in manufacturing and in the operational areas, increased significantly. Additionally, more corporations and businesses are purchasing their own aircraft. New markets are being explored, as nations that previously had little use for aircraft are beginning to purchase a variety of models and types for corporate, personal, and military use. Governments and businesses in China, South America, Africa, and even Eastern bloc nations will be counted among the American aerospace industry's clients.

Second, space exploration has greatly influenced the industry's production and employment needs. As the National Aeronautic and Space Administration (NASA) steps up its space programs, it calls upon the American aerospace industry to keep pace. Research and development in systems, materials, and related needs will demand engineers, scientists, and laborers.

Third, increased work with composite aircraft may require that companies spend more time, energy, and money on research and development. This will require additional people power.

Employment in the aerospace industry is expected to rise above recent levels in the next 10 years. As noted, thousands of jobs will open each year because of this growth, as well as to replace workers who retire or transfer to jobs in other industries. Job opportunities should be most favorable for highly trained workers, such as scientists, engineers, and technicians, but less skilled workers also will be needed to fill entry-level production positions.

Today people the world over want to fly greater distances in less time than ever before. As global borders shrink, and pleasure and business travel increase, aircraft manufacturing will reap its share of the rewards.

A portion of the production of the aviation industry is devoted to national defense. Therefore, the industry's future depends to some extent on the level of defense expenditures by the Federal Government. There are strong indications that these expenditures will be cut significantly in the 1990s. Improved relations between the United States and the Soviet Union have weakened political support for sizable increases in the defense budget. It remains to be seen whether the likely slack in defense spending will be taken up by expanding non-military needs.

AEROSPACE INDUSTRY EMPLOYMENT DECEMBER 1980-DECEMBER 1991					
TYPE OF EMPLOYMENT	1980	1981	1982		
Aircraft Manufacturing Employees 414,000		399,000	367,000		
Scientists & Engineers	158,000	156,000	151,000		
Technicians		69,000	59,000		
All Others		276,000	254,000		
Total	902,000	900,000	831,000		
TYPE OF EMPLOYMENT	1985	1986	1989		
Aircraft Manufacturing Employees	392,000	446,000	439,000		
Scientists & Engineers		178,000	204,000		
Technicians	67,000	66,000	65,000		
All others		277,000	286,000		
Total	939,000	967,000	994,000		
TYPE OF EMPLOYMENT	1990	1991			
Aircraft Manufacturing Employees.	420,000	406,000			
Scientists & Engineers		196,000			
Technicians	62,000	61,000			
All others	266,000	260,000			
Total	944,000	923,000			

Source: Aerospace Industries Assn.

An Engineer Talks About His Job

Ed Leng is an engineer with Hughes Aircraft in the Los Angeles area.

"During the years I've been with Hughes, I've learned that the most important skills I use each day are thoroughness and the ability to analyze, which enables me to approach a problem from a logical point of view.

"You should also have an open mind, and be able to take suggestions from supervisors and co-workers. It's important to be a team player. While creativity is a plus, a solid foundation in math and the sciences is vital.

"Basic training should be in math and physics. A solid background in these areas is far more important than being creative.

"I design infrared systems for military helicopters. The end product is almost like a TV image for helicopter pilots. I use CAD-CAM, which required some training, and that is available through internal company seminars. These training courses last three to five days. However, because I was familiar with an IBM PC, I relied upon computer manuals. But I'll soon enroll in the sessions in order to familiarize myself with more technical systems. Clearly, some computer experience is a plus.

"I graduated from the University of Southern California engineering school with a B.S. degree; a Masters degree is important if a graduate wants to advance and eventually wind up in a management position. But an advanced degree isn't really necessary in order to work in the aerospace industry. However, where you go to school will determine your salary, to some extent. A grad of M.I.T, CalTech, or Stanford will get the big money up front. Someone out of a small institution won't receive the same sort of salary.

"I think that a prospective employer looks at schooling and grade point average, but personal chemistry during an interview is important. Don't count yourself out if you are articulate and can converse with an interviewer. That helps a lot. So, in addition to a degree and the standard credentials, having good interviewing skills is an important part of any education."

Aviation Education Officers

FAA Headquarters

Phillip S. Woodruff, APA-100 Director of Aviation Education

Aviation Education Officers
Ms. Valerie Collins
Ms. Mary Jo Byberg
Ms. Josie M. Clark
Ms. Latisha A. Ferguson
800 Independence Avenue, SW
Office of Public Affairs
Aviation Education Program
Washington, DC 20591
(202) 267-3471

Aeronautical Center

Mr. Robert Hoppers, AAC-5 Room 356, Headquarters Building P.O. Box 25082 Oklahoma City, OK 73125 (405) 680-7500

Technical Center

Ms. Michele Pareene, ACM-100 Human Resource Management Division Atlantic City International Airport Atlantic City, NJ 08405 (609) 484-6681

Alaskan Region

Ms. Mary Lou Wojtalik, AAL-5B 222 West 7th Avenue, Box 14 Anchorage, AK 99513-7587 (907) 271-5293 STATE: Alaska

Central Region

Ms. Patrice Shalda, ACE-5
601 East 12th Street
Federal Building, Room 1501
Kansas City, MO 64106
(816) 426-5449
STATES: Iowa, Kansas, Missouri, and
Nebraska

Eastern Region

Mr. Charles Pagnini, AEA-15C
JFK International Airport
Federal Building
Jamaica, NY 11430
(718) 553-1056
STATES: Delaware, District of
Columbia, Maryland, New Jersey,
New York, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and
West Virginia

Great Lakes Region

Mr. Lee Carlson, AGL-5A
O'Hare Lake Office Center
2300 East Devon Avenue
Des Plaines, IL 60018
(312) 694-7042
STATES: Illinois, Indiana, Michigan,
Minnesota, North Dakota, Ohio, South
Dakota, and Wisconsin

New England Region

Ms. Shelia Bauer, ANE-8
12 New England Executive Park
Burlington, MA 01803
(617) 273-7064
STATES: Connecticut, Maine, New
Hampshire, Rhode Island, Vermont, and
Massachusetts

Northwest Mountain Region

Ms. Shelly McGillivary, ANM-5E 1601 Lind Avenue, SW Renton, WA 98055 (206) 227-2804 STATES: Colorado, Idaho, Montana, Oregon, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming

Southern Region

Ms. Kathleen Bergen, ASO-5 PO Box 20636 Atlanta, GA 30320 (404) 763-7201 STATES: Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands

Southwest Region

Ms. Debra Myers, ASW-5 4400 Blue Mound Road Ft. Worth, TX 76193-0005 (817) 624-5804 STATES: Arkansas, Louisiana, New Mexico, Oklahoma, and Texas

Western-Pacific Region

Mr. Hank Verbais, AWP-5 PO Box 92007 Worldway Postal Center Los Angeles, CA 90009 (213) 297-1431 STATES: Arizona, California, Nevada, and Hawaii

Aviation Education Resource Centers

Alabama

Alabama Aviation Technical College Ms. Megan Johnson, Director Learning Resource Center PO Box 1209 Ozark, AL 36361 (205) 774-5113

University of North Alabama Ms. Michele R. Walker Programming Coordinator UNA Box 5145 Florence, AL 35632-0001 (205) 760-4623

University Aviation Association Mr. Gary W. Kiteley Executive Director 3410 Skyway Drive Opelika, AL 36801 (205) 844-2434

Alaska

University of Alaska Fairbanks Mr. Dennis Stephens Collection Development Officer Elmer E. Rasmuson Library Fairbanks, AK 99775-1680 (907) 474-6695

Arizona

Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University Ms. Karen Hudson Educational Programs Coordinator 3200 N. Willow Creek Road Prescott, AZ 86301 (602) 771–6673

California

National University Mr. Ernest Wendt Chair, Department of Applied Sciences 4141 Camino Del Rio South San Diego, CA 92108 (619) 563-7122

San Jose State University Dr. H. Gene Little Chairman, Department of Aviation 1 Washington Square San Jose, CA 95192-0081 (408) 924-6580 Museum of Flying Mr. Harvey Ferer 2772 Donald Douglas Loop North Santa Monica, CA 90405 (310) 392-8822

Colorado

U.S. Space Foundation Dr. Jerry Brown Educational Director 1525 Vapor Trail Colorado Springs, CO 80916 (719) 550-1000

Metropolitan State College of Denver Mr. Jonathan R. Burke Assistant Professor Aerospace Science Department Campus Box 30, P.O. Box 173362 Denver, CO 80217–3362 (303) 556–2923

Connecticut

Connecticut Department of Transportation Bureau of Aeronautics Ms. Tambri Graville 24 Wolcott Hill Road PO Drawer A Wethersfield, CT 06109 (203) 566-4417

Delaware

Delaware Teachers Center Ms. Stephanie Wright 3401 Green Street Claymont, DE 19703 (302) 792–3806

Florida

Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University Ms. Patricia Fleener-Ryan AvEd Teacher Resource Center Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 239-6499

Florida Institute of Technology Dr. Ballard M. Barker Head, Department of Aviation Studies The School of Aeronautics 150 West University Boulevard Melbourne, FL 32901-6988 (407) 768-8000, Ext. 8120 Florida Memorial College Mr. Anthony J. Sharp, Director Division of Airway Science 15800 Northwest 42 Avenue Miami, FL 33054 (305) 623-1440

Georgia

Conyers Middle School Ms. Viki Dennard Assistant Principal 335 Sigman Road Conyers, Georgia 30207–3699 (404) 483-3371

Hawaii

Mid-Pacific Institute Dr. Phillip R. Brieske Aviation/Space Science 2445 Kaala Street Honolulu, HI 96822 (808) 973-5000

Idaho

Idaho State Bureau of Aeronautics Mr. John Maakestad Safety/Information Officer Chief Pilot 3483 Rickenbacker Street Boise, Idaho 83705-5018 (208) 334-8775

Illinois

Parks College of St. Louis University Dr. Peggy Baty Assistant Vice President and Dean 500 Falling Springs Road Cahokia, IL 62206 (618) 337-7500

Southern Illinois University Dr. Elaine Vitello College of Technical Careers Room 222 Carbondale, IL 62901 (618) 453-8821

State of Illinois Division of Aeronautics Mr. Richard M. Ware One Langhorne Bond Drive Capital Airport Springfield, IL 62707-8415 (217) 785-8516

Kansas

Kansas State University-Salina Ms. Karlene Propst Tullis Library 2408 Scanlan Avenue Salina, KS 67401 (913) 825-0275

Louisiana

Louisiana State University
Dr. Marlon Abbas
Director of the Trans. Systems Group
Louisiana Trans. Resource Center
4101 Gourrier Avenue
Baton Rouge, LA 70808
(504) 767-9127

Maine

Kennebec Valley Technical College Ms. Sue Doner 92 Western Avenue Fairfield, ME 04937-0020 (207) 453-9762

Biddeford School Department Ms. Sara Jane Poli Maplewood Ave. Biddeford, ME 04005 (207) 283-8280

Penobscot Nation Tribal Administration Mr. Mark Sanborn Assistant Director Vocational Training and Education 6 River Road, Community Building Indian Island, ME 04468 (207) 827-7776

Massachusetts

Bridgewater State College Mr. Bill Annesley Management. Science & Aviation Science Dept. Bridgewater, MA 02325 (508) 697-1395

North Shore Community College Dr. Robert Finklestein Beverly, MA 01915 (508) 922-6722 Museum of Science Ms. Carolyn Kirdahy Lyman Library Science Park Boston, MA 02114-1099 (617) 589-0266

Westfield State College Ms. Maureen McCartney Director of Career Services Ely Campus Center Western Avenue Westfield, MA 01086 (413) 568-3311 ext. 206

Massachusetts Aeronautics Comm. Transportation Library Dr. Toby Penstlen 10 Park Plaza Boston, MA 02116–3966 (617) 973–8000

Michigan

Oakland University
Ms. Karen Conrad, Interim Director
Aviation & Space Center
216 O'Dowd Hall
Room 216
Rochester, MI 48309-4401
(313) 370-2485

Project STARS Ms. Barbara Koscak Boc 450082, Building 814 Selfridge ANG Base, MI 48045-0082 (313) 466-4884

Minnesota

Minnesota Dept. of Transportation Office of Aeronautics Mr. Gordon Hoff Director of Aviation Educ. Relations 644 Bayfield Street St. Paul, MN 55107-1008 (612) 297-7652

Vermilion Communication College Mr. Julius Salinas 1900 E. Camp Street Ely, MN 55731 (218) 365-7200

Nebraska

University of Nebraska-Omaha Mr. William S. Shea Director, Aviation Institute 60th and Dodge Omaha, NE 68182-0508 (402) 554-3424

Nebraska Department of Aeronautics Mr. Val J. Hruska Aviation Specialist PO Box 82088 Lincoln, NE 68501-2088 (402) 471-2371 New Hampshire

New Hampshire Dept. of Transportation Division of Aeronautics Mr. Ronald Wanner 65 Airport Road Concord Municipal Airport Concord, NH 03301-5298 (603) 271-2551

New Mexico

University of New Mexico Mr. Richard S. Sanchez University College Room 11 Albuquerque, NM 87131-1456 (505) 277-3861

New York

Dowling College Dr. Albert E. Donor Provost, Executive Vice President Oakdale, Long Island, NY 11769-1999 (516) 244-3200

North Dakota

University of North Dakota Mr. Charles L. Robertson Assistant Professor Department of Aviation Box 8216, University Station Grand Forks, ND 58202-8216 (707) 777-2791

Oklahoma

University of Oklahoma Dr. Lee Morris, Director Education and Aviation/Aerospace 1700 Asp Avenue Norman, OK 73037-0001 (405) 325-1964

Rhode Island

Warwick Public Schools Mr. Anthony Gagliardi Warwick Career and Tech School 574 Centerville Road Warwick, RI 02889 (401) 737-3300

Tennessee

Middle Tennessee State University Dr. Wallace R. Maples Chairman, Aerospace Department East Main Street PO Box 67 MTSU Murfreesboro, TN 37132 (615) 898-2788

Texas

Texas Southern University
Dr. I. Richmond Nettey
Director of Airway Science Program
3100 Cleburne Avenue
Houston, TX 77004
(713) 639-1847

Texas State Technical Institute Campus Library Aerospace Technologies 3801 Campus Drive Waco, Texas 76705 (817) 867–4838

Vermont

St. Johnsbury Academy Mr. John Barney Vocational Director St. Johnsbury, VT 05816 (802) 748-8171

Virginia

Virginia Aviation Museum Ms. Betty P. Wilson 5701 Huntsman Road Sandston, VA 23150-1946 (804) 786-1364

Washington

Museum of Flight Mr. Gregory Moyce Education Program Manager 9404 East Marginal Way South Seattle, WA 98108 (206) 764-5700

West Virginia

Salem-Teikyo University Dr. Ronald Ohl, President 223 West Main Street Salem, WV 26426 (304) 782-5234

Wisconsin

Experimental Aircraft Association Mr. Chuck Larsen EAA Aviation Center 3000 Poberezny Road Oshkosh, WI 54903-3065 (414) 426-4800

Department of Transportation Bureau of Aeronautics Mr. Duane Esse 4802 Sheboygan Avenue PO Box 7914 Madison, WI 53707-7914 (608) 266-3351

University of Wisconsin-Superior Mr. Michael J. Wallschlaeger Chairman, Division of Education 1800 Grand Avenue Superior, WI 54880-2898 (715) 394-8309